FILED Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington 11/26/2018 3:39 PM

96561-7

NO. 76448-9 (King County No. 16-2-16112-0 SEA)

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIV. I

FOLWEILER CHIROPRACTIC, PS, a Washington professional services corporation,

Plaintiff — Appellant,

v.

AMERICAN FAMILY INSURANCE COMPANY,

Defendant - Respondent,

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Robin Wechkin, WSBA No. 24746 SIDLEY AUSTIN LLP 701 Fifth Avenue, Suite 4200 Seattle, Washington 98104 Telephone (206) 262-7680

Theodore R. Scarborough (*Pro Hac Vice*) Christopher M. Assise (*Pro Hac Vice*) SIDLEY AUSTIN LLP One South Dearborn St # 900 Chicago, Illinois 60603

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Medical Billing and Insurance Bill Review

This case concerns American Family's Personal Injury Protection (PIP) policies. American Family's review process begins when providers submit bills for treatment provided to insureds, identifying the treatment by CPT code. Current Procedural Terminology (CPT) codes are part of a system developed by the American Medical Association to foster effective communication within the healthcare system. Am. Med. Ass'n, *Current*

Procedural Terminology 2005 Standard Edition (2004). The five-digit codes cover thousands of services, broken down by the type of procedure or treatment provided and the part of the patient's body involved. Pamela Samuelson, Questioning Copyrights in Standards, 47 B.C. L. Rev. 193, 197 (Jan. 2007). CPT codes do not reflect individual patient characteristics – age, weight, health – or provider characteristics – experience, credentials, overhead. The federal government requires Medicare and Medicaid providers to use CPT codes. *Id.* Use of the codes is ubiquitous in the private medical and insurance markets as well.

Washington's PIP statute provides that charges for medical treatment are covered only insofar as they are "reasonable." RCW 48.22.005(7); RCW 48.22.095. This statutory restriction protects PIP insureds, as PIP limits are low (typically \$10,000) and easily exhausted by excessive medical expenses.

In order to conform to similar statutory "reasonableness" limitations, insurers across the country employ databases to compare a given provider's charges to others in the marketplace. *See, e.g., Zack v. McLaren Health Advantage, Inc.*, – F. Supp. 3d –, 2018 WL 4501488, at

*11 (collecting authorities).² Without such databases, each insurer would need to compile its own set of comparables for each charge, provider, and patient – a far more costly alternative to using third-party data, and a less comprehensive and accurate one to boot.

B. The FAIR Health Database

American Family has used the FAIR Health database to evaluate the reasonableness of medical charges since 2011. CP 9-10, 24. FAIR Health and its database were created in 2009 pursuant to settlements between the New York Attorney General and major insurers after problems with an earlier database called Ingenix had come to light.³ Use of the FAIR Health database has been approved or required by legislatures or regulators in Alaska, California, Connecticut, New Jersey and New York.⁴ Courts, too, have long endorsed the use of medical charge

² These databases are used both in reviewing claims made under PIP policies and in reviewing claims made under health insurance policies that limit reimbursement for out-of-network services to reasonable or "usual and customary" charges. *See id.*

³ Press Release, New York State Office of the Attorney General, Attorney General Cuomo Announces Historic Nationwide Reform of Consumer Reimbursement System for Out-Of-Network Health Care Charges (Oct. 27, 2009); see also, e.g., Keeping it Simple: Health Plan Benefit Standardization and Regulatory Choice Under the Affordable Care Act, 74 Alb. L. Rev. 241, 277 (2010).

⁴ 10 N.Y.C.R.R. § 69-10.21(a); Cal. Health & Safety Code § 127452(b); http://regs.cqstatetrack.com/info/get_text?action_id=762209&text_id=211591&type=full _text ("FAIR Health was selected to provide medical billing data" for Alaska's Worker's Compensation Medical Fee Schedule); https://www.prnewswire.com/news-releases/connecticut-consumer-protection-law-designates-fair-health-data-out-of-network-reimbursement-reference-point-300294308.html ("FAIR Health is the only organization specified by the Commissioner as qualifying as an official data source" for Connecticut's Benchmark Database Public Act); NJ Admin. Code § 11:3-29.4(e)(1)

benchmarking generally as an efficient means of bill review. Supra at 2.

Within Washington, courts have repeatedly approved the use of FAIR Health data. In multiple cases, King County Superior Court judges have approved class-action settlements in which the parties agreed that the insurer would use FAIR Health data to remedy alleged claims-handling abuses. *Chan*, 844 F.3d at 1135, 1143 n.1 (discussing King County settlements). The parties to these settlements have agreed, and courts have ordered, that the FAIR Health database "does not, in and of itself, breach any duty or obligation under any applicable law or contract requiring [the insurer] to pay or reimburse 'usual or customary'" or 'reasonable' charges." *Id.* at 1135. The practice approved in at least one of the settlements was payment at the 85th percentile of the FAIR Health database. *Lebanon Chiropractic Clinic*, 2016 WL 546909 at *3 (discussing King County settlement).

C. FC's Claim and Lower Court Rulings

Records attached to the complaint show that FC provided services under CPT codes including 98942 – for chiropractic manipulative treatments involving five spinal regions – and 98943 – for extraspinal chiropractic manipulative treatments. CP 21, 48. FC listed a single

^{(&}quot;National databases of fees, such as those published by FAIR Health . . . are evidence of the reasonableness of fees for the provider's geographic region or ZIP code").

charge for each patient who received these treatments – \$95 for CPT 98942 and \$60 for CPT 98943. The charges did not vary by patient. *Id.*

American Family reviewed FC's charges by comparing them to other charges for the same CPT-coded treatment in FC's "geo-zip" (the area covered by the first three digits of FC's zip code). Op. at 3. With respect to the charges at issue in this case – each of which exceeded the 80th percentile – American Family sent FC (1) a check for payment at the 80th percentile, and (2) an Explanation of Remittance stating American Family would consider paying charges above the 80th percentile upon the submission of supporting documentation. CP 24, 27, 29.

In a complaint filed in July 2016, FC asserted a single claim under the CPA, alleging that American Family's use of FAIR Health is an unfair trade practice. CP 16-18. American Family moved to dismiss, drawing on the history and broad acceptance of FAIR Health. Judge Ramsdell granted American Family's motion on December 19, 2016. CP 1030-31.

The Court of Appeals reversed. The Court of Appeals did not acknowledge the approval of the FAIR Health database by the courts and regulators cited above. Nor did the court cite any authority, in Washington or elsewhere, suggesting that use of the database is improper or that insurers must engage in a subjective inquiry of each charge. Indeed, the court cited no decision related to medical bill review at all.

Instead, the Court of Appeals relied on the fact that the PIP statute covers reasonable expenses incurred by "the insured." Op. at 8. The Court of Appeals held that the statutory reference to "the insured" requires an insurer to consider personal characteristics of both the patient and the provider at all stages of its bill review. *Id*.

Based solely on this purported violation of the PIP statute, the Court of Appeals concluded that American Family's bill review process is an unfair practice under the CPA. Op. at 8. It so ruled despite having previously recognized that healthcare providers such as FC lack standing to assert an unfair act based solely on the violation of an insurance statute. Op. at 6. This is because the CPA protects consumers, not providers who charge high-end rates. American Family moved for reconsideration.

In addition to the legal errors discussed below, American Family moved on the basis of a factual error in the Court of Appeals' decision. In describing the purportedly unfair conduct, the Court of Appeals erroneously stated that American Family pays only 80% of the average charge in the database, which would mean that every provider is reimbursed at a rate 20% below the average charge. *See* Op. at 8. But FC did not allege and could not have alleged any such conduct. It is undisputed that American Family paid in full both average fees and all other fees up to the 80th percentile. CP 4 at ¶3.12-13. American

Family's actual practice of paying charges in full up to the 80th percentile bears little resemblance to what the Court of Appeals described – starting with the average charge and then discounting that average charge by 20%.

The Court of Appeals denied American Family's motion without written analysis on October 23, 2018 and granted FC's motion to publish the same day. American Family now seeks this Court's review.

IV. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

Review is appropriate here both because the Court of Appeals' decision is in sharp conflict with this Court's CPA jurisprudence and because the decision substantially and detrimentally affects the public interest. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (4).

The Court of Appeals' decision leaves insurers in Washington under a cloud of confusion regarding their ability to evaluate and manage healthcare costs. It suggests that Washington will be an outlier among states, the only one whose healthcare marketplace must operate without the benefit of the bill review mechanisms at issue here.

The government-approved practice of reviewing bills with the aid of the FAIR Health database curtails unreasonable healthcare costs in a way that is fair to all parties. Database-assisted bill review efficiently reimburses providers and protects patients and consumers. The Court of Appeals' decision threatens to eliminate that practice. The decision also

badly distorts this state's CPA jurisprudence by branding as inherently unfair a practice American Family had every reason to believe complied with its obligations under Washington law.

A. The Court of Appeals' Decision Conflicts With This Court's CPA Jurisprudence.

A court and regulator-approved practice is not "unfair." Under the CPA, plaintiffs have the burden to plead and prove an unfair or deceptive act or practice. Hangman Ridge Training Stables, Inc. v. Safeco Title Ins. Co., 105 Wn. 2d 778, 780 (1986). Some CPA plaintiffs may prove a per se unfair act by establishing that the challenged practice contravenes a specifically designated statute. *Id.* at 786. But only insureds may assert a per se CPA claim for the violation of an insurance statute. Tank v. State Farm Fire & Cas. Co., 105 Wn. 2d 381, 393 (1986); Pain Diagnostics & Rehab. Assoc. v. Brockman, 97 Wn. App. 691, 698 (1999). As the Court of Appeals recognized, FC, which is not an insured, has no standing to assert a per se claim. Op. at 6-7. As a provider, FC has to plead and prove *more* than the violation of a statute. FC must show that the challenged practice is inherently unfair. And what is deemed unfair must "evolve through a gradual process of judicial inclusion and exclusion." Saunders v. Lloyd's of London, 113 Wn. 2d 330, 344 (1989) (internal quotation marks and citations omitted).

That gradual process means that "[a]cts performed in good faith under an arguable interpretation of existing law do not constitute unfair conduct violative of the consumer protection law." *Leingang v. Pierce County Medical Bureau, Inc.*, 131 Wn. 2d 133, 155 (1997). A CPA claim fails as a matter of law where a challenged practice is not "flatly inconsistent" with a statute, is not prohibited by an appellate decision, and is consistent with trial court rulings. *E.g., Watkins v. Peterson Enterprises, Inc.*, 57 F. Supp. 2d 1102, 1110-11 (E.D. Wash. 1999) (applying *Leingang*). In the insurance context in particular, "a denial of coverage . . . based on reasonable conduct of the insurer does not constitute an unfair trade practice." *Leingang*, 131 Wn. 2d at 155.

The Court of Appeals' ruling cannot be reconciled with *Saunders* or *Leingang*. Regulatory authorities across the country have recognized the appropriateness of reviewing medical bills for reasonableness by means of the FAIR Health database. *Supra* at 5-6 & n. 3-4. Courts have done the same – both with respect to FAIR Health in particular and with respect to medical charge benchmarking generally. *Supra* at 2.

Closer to home, King County Superior Court judges have repeatedly approved settlements in which the parties agree insurers will use the FAIR Health database to assess reasonableness. *Id.* In one such settlement, the insurer was required to adopt the exact practice the Court

of Appeals deemed unfair in this case – paying at the 85th percentile of charges for each provider's geographical area. *Id.* As part of these settlements, courts have explicitly determined that use of the FAIR Health database is *not* a violation of any law. *Chan*, 844 F.3d at 1135, 1143 n.1.

All of this establishes that American Family's practice was lawful: It comported with court-approved practices in this state as well as statutory and regulatory standards across the country. At a minimum, American Family's conduct was consistent with an "arguable interpretation of existing law." *Leingang*, 131 Wn. 2d at 155. Indeed, an insurer seeking to conform its conduct to Washington law could scarcely do better than to consult the judicially-sanctioned King County settlements. The Court of Appeals' refusal even to consider those settlements – or the national body of law approving the use of FAIR Health – contravenes *Leingang* and *Saunders*.

The Court of Appeals improperly permitted FC to assert a per se claim and then misinterpreted the PIP statute. The Court of Appeals' decision also runs roughshod over the important distinction between per se and non-per se CPA claims. As a provider, FC is not one of the intended beneficiaries of consumer protection or insurance statutes, and so cannot establish an unfair act solely by reference to the purported violation of insurance statutes or regulations. See Pain Diagnostics, 97 Wn. App. at

698; *Tank*, 105 Wn. 2d at 393. But after acknowledging this law, the Court of Appeals disregarded it. The court concluded that FC adequately pled a CPA violation based *exclusively* on purported violations of Washington insurance statutes. Op. at 8-9. This is no different from the per se claim FC is barred from asserting.

Not only did the Court of Appeals incorrectly apply this Court's CPA jurisprudence, it also misinterpreted the PIP statute itself. The statute requires "payments for all reasonable and necessary expenses incurred by or on behalf of the insured . . . for health care services." RCW 48.22.005(7); Op. at 7. In interpreting the term "reasonable," the Court of Appeals emphasized the term "insured," and read it to mean that the *only* way to determine whether a charge is "reasonable" is to consider the individual circumstances of each "insured." Op. at 8. Under the Court of Appeals' interpretation, even delaying such consideration until after an initial review through a database that automatically pays charges up to the 80th percentile could violate the purported statutory command. *See id*.

The statute does not support that reading. Under long-established law, the term "reasonable," whether used by the legislature or a court, denotes an objective standard. *E.g., State v. Linville*, 191 Wn. 2d 513, 518 (2018); *Wash. State Physicians Ins. Exch. v. Fisons Corp.*, 122 Wn. 2d 299, 343 (1993); *Cowell v. Good Samaritan Cmty. Health Care*, 153 Wn.

App. 911, 925 (2009). The phrase "incurred by or on behalf of the insured" does not change the meaning of "reasonable." It merely identifies the *charge* that should be reviewed for reasonableness. The requirement that charges be "reasonable" and the requirement that they be "incurred by or on behalf of the insured" are two *separate* conditions for PIP coverage. *See Durant v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co.*, 191 Wn. 2d 1, *8-9 (2018) (discussing WAC provision implementing PIP statute). The statutory reference to "the insured" does not convert the reasonableness condition into a subjective standard, nor suggest that objectively *un*reasonable charges are covered. The Court of Appeals' interpretation of "reasonable" in the PIP statute is as erroneous as its application of "unfair" under the CPA.⁵

These are not merely technical errors. Allowing FC to claim that American Family's bill review process is "unfair" under the CPA based on a purported violation of the PIP statute excludes the interests of insureds from the application of both statutes. American Family's bill review practices *benefit* insureds. Insureds benefit from a reasonable and fair

-

⁵ After identifying a new statutory duty to conduct a patient and provider-specific assessment of reasonableness in the first instance, the Court of Appeals interpreted two WAC provisions cited by FC "consistent[ly] with [that] statutory duty." Op. at 9. The court thus concluded that the term "investigation" in WAC 284-30-330(3) and (4) "unequivocally" means that an insurer must assess reasonableness with respect to individual patient and provider characteristics. *Id.* The Court of Appeals' regulatory analysis is derivative of its statutory analysis and therefore falls with it.

method for preventing excess charges from eroding coverage limits, just as insureds benefit from a tool that keeps soaring healthcare costs from raising the price of insurance – as regulators and courts have recognized elsewhere. Yet here, the Court of Appeals failed even to consider the effect of its decision on the real subjects of consumer protection law. As explained below, the Court of Appeals' decision promotes providers' interests at the expense of consumers. That turns the law on its head. The CPA, like the federal statute on which it is based, was designed to protect consumers, not to sacrifice their interests to those of other businesses.⁶

B. The Court of Appeals' Decision Detrimentally Affects Issues of Substantial Public Interest.

The Court of Appeals' decision elevates providers' interests over those of consumers. The Court of Appeals' decision involves an issue of substantial public interest, and resolves that issue to the public detriment. If the Court of Appeals' decision is permitted to stand, the process of medical bill review in this state will depart dramatically from processes already approved by Washington courts and by other by courts and legislatures throughout the country. Rather than using medical charge databases to evaluate and control costs, insurers will be required, for every

-

15

⁶ See, e.g., Boggs v. Whitaker, 56 Wn. App. 583, 587 (1990) (1938 amendment to the FTC Act "makes the consumer, who may be injured by an unfair trade practice, of equal concern, before the law, with the merchant") (quoting legislative history).

procedure billed to them, either to investigate the individual circumstances surrounding each visit or to abandon reasonableness review altogether.

This novel and untested regime will produce unfavorable results for multiple stakeholders in medical and insurance markets, patients not least among them. Such a model would ill serve the interests reflected in both the PIP statute and the CPA.

Any requirement of up-front individualized consideration of a *patient's* individual characteristics as part of medical bill review is inconsistent with the realities of medical billing. Under the CPT codes, the treatment provided to a patient is categorized, documented and billed without regard to individual patient characteristics. *Supra* at 6-7. FC's own charges illustrate this clearly: FC charges the same amount for all patients who receive the same CPT-code designated treatment. *Id.* The Court of Appeals' novel notion of patient-specific bill review (and its corollary, pricing based on any number of individual factors regarding each patient and provider) is not the law and is inconsistent with practices developed by the medical establishment decades ago and used for billing and coverage purposes by government and private insurers ever since.⁷

-

⁷ See, e.g., Samuelson, Questioning Copyrights in Standards, 47 B.C. L. Rev. 193, 197 ("The stated purpose of the CPT is 'to provide a uniform language that accurately describes medical, surgical, and diagnostic services, and thereby serves as an effective means for reliable nationwide communication among physicians, and other healthcare providers, patients and third parties") (quoting AMA source material).

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