FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 12/12/2018 1:37 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

NO. 96561-7

IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

(COA No. 76448-9-I)

FOLWEILER CHIROPRACTIC, PS, a Washington corporation,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

AMERICAN FAMILY INSURANCE COMPANY,

Defendant-Petitioner.

PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT'S RESPONSE TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

David E. Breskin, WSBA #10607 Brendan W. Donckers, WSBA #39406 BRESKIN JOHNSON & TOWNSEND, PLLC 1000 Second Avenue, Suite 3670 Seattle, WA 98104 Telephone (206) 652-8660 Counsel for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

"exceeded the 80th percentile" of the FH database for the area. Petition at 7. And, he is one of the providers "who charge high end rates." *Id.* at 8.The Complaint alleges the opposite, *i.e.*, his fees are reasonable in his high cost area of Seattle for a chiropractor with his years of practice, certification and special training and the same rates other auto insurers pay him in full as "reasonable."

Because Am. Fam. denied Folweiler's reasonable charges without investigating or determining the fees were unreasonable, the Court of Appeal's opinion is consistent with the plain language of the PIP statute, WAC 284-30-330 and WAC 284-30-395(1) and the *non-per se* unfair practice CPA claim described in *Klem, supra.*

The trial court's order dismissing the case is not. If the fees were reasonable *as alleged*, then Am. Fam. had to pay them to fulfill its affirmative duty under the PIP statute to make "*payments* of *all reasonable*" expenses. If it failed to investigate *before* denying payment, *as alleged*, then Am. Fam. failed to fulfill its affirmative duty under WAC 284-30-330 when it denied payment based *solely* on the FH 85th percentile amount *without* any investigation. If it denied payment without *first* determining Dr. Folweiler's fees were unreasonable for *him* to bill for *his* services, *as alleged*, then Am. Fam. failed to fulfill its affirmative.

Folweiler's allegations state a *non-per se* unfair practice CPA claim under *Klem. Am.* Fam.'s practice violates the PIP statute and WAC and violates the "strong *public policy* in favor of the *full* compensation of medical benefits for victims of road accidents" reflected in the statute and WAC. *Durant, supra.,* emphasis added.

V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Unlike Illinois and other states, Washington is a "no-fault" auto state. Washington citizens who want to drive must buy auto insurance. But if they have PIP coverage and are injured in an accident, they are entitled to have "*all* reasonable and necessary" treatment expenses paid by their *insurer, without regard* for who was at fault for the accident. RCW 48.22 *et seq.* The legislature enacted a broad PIP statute and the Insurance Commissioner adopted broad WAC regulations to "reflect Washington's strong public policy in favor of the full compensation of medical benefits for victims of road accidents." *Durant, supra.* at 8-9.

"At-fault" insurance states, like Illinois, do not have similar PIP statutes or regulations. Under their laws, an injured party's provider is not entitled to be paid by the insurer unless the party was not "at-fault" for the accident. Am. Fam.'s claims about what

occurs in other states are irrelevant given Washington's public policy in favor of "*full compensation of benefits*" on PIP claims.

The PIP statute imposes an *affirmative duty* on insurers to make "payments of all reasonable" expenses and not just anything the insurer wants to pay. *Durant, supra.* at 18. As the Insurance Commissioner stated in its *Amicus Curiae Brief* to this Court in *Durant:* "[C]arriers must not be allowed to use unilaterally created definitions to eviscerate the protections the Legislature and the Commissioner intended." ⁸ To defray the cost of providing the broad protection the Legislature and Commissioner intended, insurers are allowed to and *do* charge separate PIP premiums. According to the Commissioner's annual reports, from 2013 to 2017, Am. Fam. got \$950 million in PIP premiums, only paid out \$690 million on claims, and had a profit of \$260 million, or nearly 38%, on PIP coverage.⁹

A. The FH Database Cannot Determine Reasonable Fees

Am. Fam.'s Petition rests on unsubstantiated and inaccurate *factual* claims about its use of the FH database which it asks this Court to accept as true. It says relying *solely* on the 85th percentile of charges to deny payment of reasonable provider bills is

⁸ See, Amicus Curiae Brief, Appendix C at 14.

⁹ See, Chart, **Appendix D**, summarizing Annual Reports for 2013 to 2017.

consistent with Washington law because it is only denying payment to "providers who charge high-end rates." Petition at 8. And claims it pays "in full" the "average fees" for the procedure in the provider's area. *Id.* But its factual claims are not considered on a 12(b)(6) motion because they are contrary to Dr. Folweiler's allegations.

The Complaint alleges his fees are reasonable and the FH database cannot determine reasonable fees because its data is insufficient to determine what providers charge for a procedure in the city where it was provided. It alleges that FH does not collect at least one charge for the same procedure from every provider in any area, so it is impossible to determine using *only* the FH database what a majority of provider's charge in the area. CP 7. It alleges FH does not get charges from providers directly or auto insurers but only from a limited number of health insurers who then turn around and use the database to reduce payments to health care providers. CP 7. The trial court had to accept these allegations as true.

Indeed, in support of the Complaint's allegations and to show hypothetical facts that could be shown to support his claim for relief, Folweiler submitted the deposition of FH through its director of data Erik Okurowski, and its president, Robin Gelburd, that it is *impossible* to determine if a provider's bill is a reasonable charge

for the treatment based only the 85th percentile of FH database of charges because FH does *not* collect data based on providers and does *not* collect at least one charge from every provider in the area for the same procedure. *See,* Folweiler Opening Brief at 18.

Because FH does not collect at least one charge from every provider in an area that bills for the same procedure, it is impossible to say whether the 85th percentile represents what a "majority" of providers in an area charge or represents only what 30% of providers charge. The vast majority of providers could charge more. As FH said in deposition, when using only the 85th percentile of its database, it is impossible to even get a "margin of error" on how far away the 85th percentile amount is from what a majority of providers in the same area actually charge. Folweiler Opening Brief at 57.

The Complaint also alleged that the FH database was not materially different than its processor, the Ingenix database. Progressive used the 90th percentile of that database to deny payment of reasonable provider charges on Washington PIP claims. Complaint at ¶¶ 3.30-3.41. In 2010, a class of Washington providers sued Progressive over its practice of making automatic, computer denials at the 90th percentile amount. The issue of whether Progressive's practice was an unfair CPA practice that

violated the PIP statute and WAC regulations went to trial in 2012. A King County jury of 12 reached a *unanimous verdict* that Progressive's practice was an unfair CPA practice that caused injury to the provider's business on *a class-wide basis. Id*

Like Ingenix, FH only gets charges from a small number of health insurers and lumps together the charges for the same CPT procedure by broad "geo-zip" areas defined by the first 3 digits of the area's zip code. Complaint at ¶¶ 3.30-3.41. So a Seattle provider's fee for a 97124 CPT procedure is compared to the 85th percentile of charges submitted by FH health insurers from White Center, Burien, Bainbridge Island and unincorporated areas of King County because, like Seattle, they all have zip codes that start with "981." So in 2015, when Am. Fam. denied Dr. Folweiler's bills, 85% of the *lowest* charges for the 97124 procedure that FH's health insurers *chose* to submit in 2015 or prior to 2015 could have been charges from only three large chiropractic clinics in White Center and Burien, with no charges at all from Folweiler's area in Seattle.

That's because the 85th percentile amount just means that 85% of the charges that happen to be in the FH database for the CPT procedure in 2015 are *at or below* that amount, no matter what year the charges were billed in or were submitted to FH. If 85% of

the charges come from low cost areas or from only three large providers who charge low fees because they do a "volume" business or only charge health insurers a low rate, then the 85th percentile will not represent fees charged by a majority of providers in the area let alone determine "*all*" reasonable fees in the area.

Because FH does not differentiate between providers based on their years of experience or any other individual attribute, it is impossible to use the 85th percentile of the FH database to determine what a majority of *similar* providers in the area with similar years of experience, credentials or training charge for the same CPT procedure. A Seattle chiropractor, like Dr. Folweiler, with over 20 years of practice, board certification and training in the rehabilitation of patients with auto accident injuries has his fees compared to fees for the same CPT procedure billed by nurse practitioners, chiropractors in training, first year chiropractors or any other type of provider who billed one of the health insurers who sent charges into FH for the same CPT procedure. If 85% of the lowest charges come from nurse practitioners, chiropractors in training or first year chiropractors then Dr. Folweiler's rates will not be compared to any provider who has any comparison to him.

Because its charge data is limited, incomplete and does not

include information on similar providers, FH expressly tells users:

The FAIR Health products *do not* set forth a stated or an implied *reasonable and customary charge* or *allowed amount...*(and) Licensee *shall not* represent or characterize its use of the FAIR Health products *in any way* contrary to the description of how that FAIR Health product is offered by FAIR Health as expressed herein.¹⁰

According to FH, the database supplier, Am. Fam. cannot

use its database to determine "a stated or an implied reasonable

and customary charge" for Washington providers. Under the

licensing contract, Am. Fam. should not represent to insureds,

providers or *this Court* that in using the FH 85th percentile limitation,

it is paying "average fees" in an area and only denying payment to

"providers who charge high-end rates." There is absolutely no

factual basis to such claims. FH says its database does not do that.

VI. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

While ignoring the rules applicable to appellate review of a 12(b)(6) order, Am. Fam. argues review is proper because the Court of Appeals opinion confuses insurers about "their ability to evaluate and manage healthcare costs." This case has nothing to do with *healthcare costs*, the healthcare market or insurance. It

¹⁰ See, FH licensing agreement for database, CP 911-13, (emphasis added).

involves what *auto* insurers must do to comply with their *affirmative duties* to pay "all reasonable" expenses under the PIP statute and Washington's public policy of full compensation of PIP benefits. The requirements are set out in WAC 284-30-395(1) and 284-30-330 and include affirmative duties to investigate and determine if the charge is reasonable *before* denying payment, not after. There is no statute that requires healthcare insurers pay "all reasonable" expenses. Most negotiate *in advance* with providers to take a lower rate than their market rate for inclusion in a PPO plan. The Court of Appeals Opinion is consistent with the plain language of the PIP statute, WAC regulations and the public policy stated in *Durant*.

It is also consistent with *Klem* that a plaintiff can prove a *non-per se* unfair CPA practice claim if the practice violates public policy reflected in statutes or regulations; and *Panag v. Farmers Ins. Co. of Wash.*, 166 Wn. 2d 27 (2009), that a plaintiff does not need a contractual relationship with the insurer to prove a CPA claim. The plaintiff only has to prove the insurer's unfair practice caused injury to its business or property. *Id.* Folweiler's Complaint alleges injury to its business caused by Am. Fam.'s failure to pay its bills and the delay in paying its bills due to 85th percentile denials.

Nor is requiring WAC compliance of Am. Fam's duty to investigate rather than using a database percentile to automatically deny payments make Washington an "outlier" state.¹¹ Other states require insurers to document every step taken before denial and to train adjusters to investigate. **Appendix E** ¶ 22. Consistent with *Durant*, other states do not permit carriers to use "any preestablished limitations on the benefits." *See* 2018 Minnesota Statutes, ch. 65B.44 § 1(b).

Nor does Am. Fam. cite any government approval of its practice by the state of Washington and its practice is not fair to providers or insureds. It underpays providers for services routinely paid as reasonable by other auto insurers and gives Am. Fam. a competitive advantage by lowering its costs and payouts. It forces providers to "balance bill" or send the insured to collections and subjects the insured to such risks. It elevates Am. Fam's interests above the insured's interests and shifts the burden of fulfilling its affirmative duties onto the backs of insureds and providers.

¹¹ See, Stipulation and Consent Order in *In re United Services Automobile Association (NAIC#25941)*, **Appendix E** at ¶ 27(a), wherein Vermont required USAA to cease its practice of denying payment of medical expense bills on auto claims based solely on the 80th percentile of a database of charges and to instead pay either the agreed upon "PPO" rate or "the charged amount for services that are related to injuries sustained in a the motor vehicle accident."

Nor is the Opinion reversing the 12(b)(6) order inconsistent with the rule of law *in "bad faith"* cases that an insurer's good faith denial of *coverage* based on a reasonable interpretation of law is not an unfair CPA practice. Dr. Folweiler's claim is not for violation of the good faith statute, RCW 48.010.030, but violation of the PIP statute and WAC. Am. Fam. did not deny payment for lack of coverage, but on "reasonableness," which is a separate basis from "coverage" for denying a PIP claim. WAC 284-30-395(1). Am. Fam.'s interpretation of the PIP statute as permitting *automatic* denials without investigation or determination of reasonableness is contrary to plain language of WAC 284-30-330 and 284-30-395(1) and a public policy of *full compensation* of benefits on PIP claims.¹²

The appellate court followed *Klem* to find a *non-per se* unfair practice claim. It did not substitute a *per se* claim. An *individualized* assessment of the reasonableness of a provider's fee is no different than a court's individualized assessment of the reasonableness of

¹² Am. Fam. argues that by approving *settlements* in class actions that permit the use of a database *as a tool* in paying PIP claims, Superior Court judges have ruled *on the merits* that its practice is legal. A CR 23(e) approval of settlement is not a ruling on the merits and is inadmissible to show lack of liability. ER 408. The only rulings *on the merits* hold the opposite. *See,* orders, **Appendix F** and Commissioner Verhelen's order in *Kerbs v. Safeco Ins. Co. of Ill.,* **Appendix G.** And as noted, a trial on the merits in *Progressive* found an unfair CPA practice.

an attorney's fee based on the fees of other attorneys with *similar* years of practice, specialization and reputation in the same city.¹³

Am. Fam. has not said how it is such a burden on it to investigate *before* denying payment of reasonable PIP claims, when the majority of auto insurers, including Washington's largest, State Farm, is able to process, investigate and pay reasonable provider fees *without* relying on a database of charges to make automatic computer generated denials and evade their duties under the PIP statute and WAC, as Dr. Folweiler's Complaint alleges. These insurers paid Dr. Folweiler's charges in full as "reasonable."

In reality, Am. Fam.'s disagreement is not with the Court of Appeals. Its Opinion is consistent with the plain language of the PIP statute, WAC and the public policy discussed in *Durant*. Its problem is the law in Washington, i.e. the requirements of the PIP statute and WAC, the state's strong public policy reflected in the statute and WAC of *full compensation of benefits*, and this Court's holding in *Klem* on what constitutes a *non-per se* unfair CPA claim.

VII. CONCLUSION

American Family's Petition should be denied.

¹³ See, Baker v. Fireman's Fund Ins. Co., 5 Wn. App. 2d 604, 623 (2018) ("local rates charged by attorneys with similar skills and experience") Crest Inc. v. Costco Wholesale Corp., 128 Wn.App. 760 (2005) (local rates not sole factor).